
PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 1 of 30 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

 

SEPTEMBER 9, 2025 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES  

 

 

A Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Tuesday, 

September 9, 2025, at 1234 Market Street, 17th Floor Boardroom, Philadelphia, PA 19107, of which 

proper notices were given. A condensed certified transcript of this meeting is attached to these minutes 

as Exhibit A. 

 

Call to Order 

 

The meeting was called to order at 10:05 am. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah announced that prior to the Public Session, the Board held an Executive Session 

during which Mr. Rodriguez gave an update on the Land Bank’s ongoing assessment being managed 

by Guide House Consultants. She announced that public comments will no longer be read aloud during 

meetings but will instead be attached to the minutes, with copies available for review.  Ms. Imredy 

Saah also reviewed the Board’s public comment policy and requested that attendees sign up to make 

public comments and sign the attendance sheet. 

 

Item I 

Roll Call 

 

The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Herbert Wetzel, Nicholas Dema, 

Darwin Beauvais, Cornelius Brown, Andrew Goodman, Maria Gonzalez, Jenny Greenberg, Kelvin 

Jeremiah, Rebecca Lopez-Kriss, and Majeedah Rashid.   

 

Michael Johns was absent from the Board meeting. 

 

The following Land Bank staff members were present: Angel Rodriguez, Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., 

Lily Bernadel, Esq., Cristina Martinez, Brian Romano and Carolyn Terry. 

 

Public Attendees: The list of public attendees follows these minutes.   

 

A quorum of Directors was present, and the meeting, having been duly convened, proceeded with 

business. 

 

Item II 

Approval of Board Minutes 

 

Chair Wetzel called for a motion to adopt the Board meeting minutes of August 12, 2025.   

 

Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the minutes.  Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board approved the Board meeting minutes of August 12, 

2025.   

 



PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 2 of 30 

Item III 

Executive Director’s Report 

 

No Executive Director’s report was provided this month.   

 

Item IV 

Development  

 

IV.A.  Affordable Housing (unsolicited)   

Ms. Martinez presented Item IV.A, requesting Board approval for an unsolicited application from 

Civetta Property Group LLC, to develop thirty (30) single-family homes in the 7th Council District. 

Fifteen (15) homes will be two-story and fifteen (15) homes will be three-story, all with three 

bedrooms, two bathrooms, no basements, and with an approximate area of 1,375 square feet. The 

homes will be sold for up to $280,000 to households at or below 100% AMI and will qualify for the 

Turn the Key program. The project was evaluated under the disposition policy and includes an EOP 

plan. 

 

Chair Wetzel called for questions from the Board. 

 

Mr. Jeremiah noted that a letter from Councilmember Lozada had just been circulated and asked 

whether the Board’s decision on the item would be moot, given that the Councilmember does not 

support the project and would not introduce it in City Council. Ms. Imredy Saah responded that the 

Board’s and City Council’s decisions are intended to be separate, and that one should have no bearing 

on the other. The Board’s role is to vote on qualified applications, and Council support is not required 

for the Board to approve a qualified disposition.    

 

Mr. Beauvais asked whether the developer had communicated with the Councilmember, noting that 

the application was unsolicited. Mr. Jeremiah noted that the Councilmember’s letter confirms she had 

spoken with the developer. Mr. Beauvais asked for clarification on the substance of that discussion. 

 

Ms. Brennan Tomasetti of Civetta Property Group (Civetta) reported that Civetta began engaging with 

Councilmember Lozada’s office in November 2024 to discuss community outreach and offer 

educational seminars. She shared that in June of this year, the Council office approved a seminar to 

take place on August 13th. Ms. Tomasetti explained that Civetta had previously hosted a community 

event on July 10th with about 10 attendees, received feedback on the location, and rescheduled for July 

24th at the Council office’s preferred site, where about 33 people attended. She stated that between 

those events, Civetta also held several property tours to show completed and in-progress homes. She 

added that on August 13th, the day the educational seminar was scheduled, the Council office canceled 

the event and informed Civetta it could not proceed. 

 

Mr. Beauvais asked Ms. Tomasetti to clarify what she meant by “educational seminars.”  Ms. Tomasetti 

explained that Civetta offers educational seminars to help first-time homebuyers understand the 

homebuying process and the Turn the Key program, including how to qualify and what to expect. She 

said these presentations are conducted in various communities to provide information and build 

awareness. Civetta initiates these seminars independently but routinely informs and involves Council 

offices to collaborate on community education. She further explained that the seminars were separate 

from the development proposal, noting that Civetta submitted an unsolicited application to the Land 

Bank, was selected as the most qualified developer, and then began the community engagement efforts. 

 



PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 3 of 30 

Mr. Beauvais asked if Civetta had spoken with the Councilmember before submitting the proposal. 

Ms. Tomasetti replied that they typically do not. 

 

Chair Wetzel asked if public comments were received on this development.  

 

Ms. Imredy Saah confirmed two written comments were received. She stated that one letter, from 

Ceiba, urged the Board not to approve the disposition until the 7th Council District completes its 

neighborhood plan and assessment of publicly owned land. The second letter, from Councilmember 

Quetcy Lozada, acknowledged Civetta’s community meetings but noted strong community opposition 

to the project. The Councilmember requested that the Board not approve the disposition in alignment 

with residents and RCOs. Ms. Imredy Saah added that both letters will be attached to the September 

meeting minutes (attached as Exhibit B). 

 

Chair Wetzel opened the public comment period and invited the first speaker, Ms. Nilda Pimentel-

Perez, to come forward. Ms. Pimentel-Perez, speaking on behalf of the Norris Square Community 

Action Network (NSCAN), reiterated the group’s opposition to the transfer of lots to Civetta Property 

Group. She referenced prior comments made at the previous Land Bank meetings and a July 2 letter 

sent to Councilmember Lozada, emphasizing that Turn the Key projects rely on PHDC subsidies and 

city-owned land, and that policy reforms are needed before such projects proceed. She explained that 

the group urged PHDC to expand affordability for households earning under $52,000 and create a 

formula to offer some homes at lower price points.  

 

Mr. Beauvais asked Ms. Pimentel-Perez to clarify whether her organization opposed development of 

the lots altogether or just the current proposal. Ms. Pimentel-Perez responded that they do not oppose 

development in general but oppose this specific project as presented. She explained that their objection 

is based on the process and the developer’s unwillingness to modify the project model – the community 

made recommendations regarding price points and suggested including some market-rate units to help 

subsidize more affordable homes. She said the group is continuing discussions with Councilmember 

Lozada and other community organizations to explore a more equitable approach and is open to 

supporting any developer, including Civetta, who proposes a fairer model.  

 

Ms. Lopez-Kriss asked whether the community saw any possibility of continued dialogue with the 

developer or if agreement was no longer possible. Ms. Pimentel-Perez responded that there is always 

room for compromise. She said that while she could only speak for her own group, they are open to 

continued discussions, including with Civetta, as broader efforts continue with Councilmember Lozada 

to develop a more equitable model. 

 

Mr. Jeremiah asked if Ms. Pimentel-Perez was suggesting that market-rate units could help subsidize 

lower-priced homes. Ms. Pimentel-Perez agreed and said her group would consider that approach, 

emphasizing they are advocates, not developers, and seek affordability for households earning under 

$52,000. She said any plan must be fair, consensus-based, and developed with community groups and 

CDCs. She added that the concept of mixed pricing could work if homes are distributed equitably 

across the neighborhood. 

 

Ms. Lopez-Kriss asked whether including market-rate units to subsidize affordable ones would be 

acceptable to NSCAN. Ms. Pimentel-Perez confirmed it might be, explaining that details like 

distribution and percentages would need further discussion. She added that her group is open to 

evaluating any future proposals, including unsolicited ones, that meet community needs, but the current 

Civetta proposal remains unacceptable in its present form. 

 



PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 4 of 30 

Mr. Jeremiah asked Ms. Tomasetti whether Civetta was willing to continue negotiating with 

community organizations to reach a resolution on the proposed development project. Ms. Tomasetti 

stated that Civetta makes every effort to engage with the community, understand its needs, and propose 

suitable development options. She explained that Civetta had previously suggested mixed-income 

projects with both market-rate and affordable units, similar to proposals by other developers who had 

submitted applications in the district, but those efforts did not gain support. After hearing community 

feedback favoring affordability for all project homes, Civetta decided to focus on 100 percent AMI 

affordable housing to reflect what they understood to be the community’s primary preference. 

 

Ms. Greenberg asked whether Civetta had proposed any mix of market-rate and affordable units for 

this project. Ms. Tomasetti replied that they had not included such a combination in the current 

proposal. Ms. Greenberg then asked whether Civetta would consider revising the plan and whether the 

Board should table the item. Ms. Imredy Saah interjected that under the Disposition Policies, any 

change in project use (including different AMI levels), or a greater than 15 percent change in price or 

square footage, would require a new application, full review, and presentation as a new project.  Ms. 

Tomasetti added that Civetta has qualified homebuyers earning around $53,000 but that lower-income 

households might not be able to afford the long-term maintenance expenditures of homeownership.  

She stated that their Turn the Key project is not a complete solution but a positive step toward 

addressing housing needs. 

 

Ms. Gonzalez responded that low-income households seek the same opportunities as others and 

suggested designating some homes for that income range. Ms. Tomasetti apologized for any 

misunderstanding, explaining her comments were about long-term sustainability of homeownership, 

and Ms. Gonzalez added that housing counseling can help prepare buyers for long-term ownership. 

 

Mr. Beauvais asked how this application reached this stage, questioning why Civetta chose to proceed 

despite community objections. Ms. Tomasetti explained that Civetta receives a wide range of feedback 

from communities on each project, including requests to address parking setbacks and affordability. 

She noted that not all requests for changes can be addressed and that community opinions are often 

divided. Ms. Tomasetti said Civetta considered all feedback and moved forward with what it believed 

to be the strongest proposal for the project sites.  

 

Mr. Jeremiah asked what specific requests the community made to Civetta. Ms. Tomasetti responded 

that the absence of parking set aside for each unit was a major point of contention. She reported that 

the community had also suggested lowering the sale price of the homes to around $200,000. She 

explained that unfortunately, Civetta cannot build at that price point given current construction and 

financing constraints; that level of affordability would require additional subsidies or external financial 

support beyond what the Civetta as the developer can provide.  

 

Mr. Beauvais asked whether Civetta could withdraw the proposal without losing its progress or 

momentum if it agreed to make changes to the price point. Ms. Imredy Saah explained that community 

meetings were implemented by the Board to inform residents about projects, but under the Council-

mandated Disposition Policies, developers are not required to negotiate with or obtain approval from 

the community. The Land Bank process does not require community consent. The Board several years 

ago created a policy requiring that the developer provide information about the proposed project to the 

community so that community members could then provide feedback at the Board meeting should they 

wish to. RCO involvement and negotiation with the community is required by the law when a zoning 

variance is being sought, which is not part of the Land Bank’s process. She reiterated that if a proposed 

project changes by 15% or more in price or scope, it must be re-evaluated and submitted as a new 



PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 5 of 30 

application. She added that developers do have the option to withdraw their proposals, as some have 

chosen to do after multiple attempts to be approved failed.  

 

Mr. Rodriguez clarified that developers may withdraw proposals for financial reasons, noting that after 

investing heavily in pre-development, they may decide to stop if Board approval seems unlikely. 

 

Mr. Jeremiah noted that without support from the 7th District Councilmember, the project would likely 

not advance, since the Councilmember must introduce the necessary legislation. He expressed deep 

concern with the process, saying it fails to allow the City to meet its housing goals. Mr. Jeremiah noted 

that while the Mayor’s housing initiative seeks to expand affordability, developers cannot be expected 

to absorb financial losses to meet lower price points. It is impossible for a developer to build a home 

costing at least $225,000 to build and then sell it for $200,000 without receiving substantial public 

subsidy. Drawing on his experience with PHA, Mr. Jeremiah explained that affordable housing 

development for low-income households only works because of significant federal and state subsidies, 

as PHA serves households with average incomes of $24,000 and average rents of $365. He stated that 

expecting private developers to make such projects viable without similar support is unrealistic – it is 

a financial issue, not a matter of goodwill.  

 

Further reflecting on his nine months on the Board, Mr. Jeremiah voiced exasperation and frustration 

about the Board’s role in an unworkable system. Ms. Imredy Saah pointed out that the Land Bank’s 

process is determined by the ordinance passed by City Council, and that it must follow the process set 

forth in the law. 

 

Ms. Gonzalez commented that some Councilmembers choose not to advance certain types of projects, 

such as side yards or gardens, in their districts. She emphasized the need for stronger collaboration 

between the Land Bank and City Council to set clear development priorities. Ms. Gonzalez said this 

would prevent wasted effort and expense for developers on projects unlikely to be approved and ensure 

that proposals presented to the Board have a fair chance of moving forward. 

 

Chair Wetzel recognized Jeremy Blatstein. Mr. Blatstein stated that this was the third hearing on the 

Civetta project and criticized the timing of Councilmember Lozada’s opposition letter, submitted the 

morning of the meeting after two prior reviews. He called the letter inconsistent, noting that it questions 

eligibility for city employees while opposing homes priced for households up to 100% of AMI—the 

standard approved by all Councilmembers under the NPI bond issuance that included funding for the 

Turn the Key program. Mr. Blatstein emphasized that the Land Bank’s role is to dispose of land, not 

hold it, and that the Board should evaluate qualified applications independently of Council politics. He 

said rejecting the project undermines housing goals, discourages minority developers, and blocks 

progress toward Mayor Parker’s goal of 30,000 new homes. He urged the Board to approve the 

proposal. 

 

Next, Chair Wetzel recognized Ms. Tomasetti, who wanted to add for the record that Civetta’s planned 

educational seminars on August 13th and September 3rd were both canceled by the Councilmember’s 

office on the day of each event, despite the team’s preparation. She expressed disappointment that, 

after three Board reviews and significant time and resources from all involved, the project had not 

received a final determination. Ms. Tomasetti reaffirmed Civetta’s commitment to the Turn the Key 

program, sharing that it has had a powerful impact on homebuyers and their families. She said Civetta 

remains eager to continue providing affordable housing in Philadelphia. 

 

Chair Wetzel recognized Zane Knight. Mr. Knight requested that 447 W. Norris Street be excluded 

from the project because it features a long-standing Mural Arts piece, Camille’s Dream, which would 



PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 6 of 30 

be lost to redevelopment. He also questioned the claim that Philadelphia lacks housing, noting the city 

already has many vacant or underused homes. Mr. Knight thanked the Board for discussing broader 

Land Bank challenges and emphasized the need for solutions at multiple levels of government. 

 

Chair Wetzel recognized Patricia DeCarlo. Ms. DeCarlo opposed the Civetta project, noting most 

residents voted against it at the community meeting. She said selling lots for $100 fuels gentrification 

and that affordability metrics inflated by suburban incomes make the homes unaffordable for Norris 

Square residents. She urged the Board to reject the project, saying it does not benefit or reflect the 

needs of the community. 

 

Chair Wetzel recognized Relina Bonilla. Ms. Bonilla, a Norris Square resident and RCO member, said 

the community wants homes but cannot afford the proposed $280,000 price under the Turn the Key 

program. She said her own daughter, despite stable employment, would not qualify for such a mortgage 

due to expenses and credit factors. Ms. Bonilla acknowledged that Civetta had allowed residents to 

tour a model home and appreciated its efforts to maintain neighborhood character and consider 

accessibility needs. However, she said the program’s income and credit requirements exclude many 

working families. She urged the City and developer to find a compromise, suggesting lower prices 

around $230,000–$250,000, so that long-term residents can remain in the community and preserve its 

history. 

 

Mr. Isaiah Franco, representing Ceiba-LEDC, expressed support for Councilmember Lozada’s letter 

and stated that she is developing a housing framework for the 7th District to guide future projects. He 

thanked Civetta for its work and the opportunity to tour the homes but said his organization wants to 

respect the process and ensure the project aligns with the Councilmember’s forthcoming plan before 

moving forward. 

 

Chair Wetzel, as Chair of the Board, acknowledged that the discussion had shifted from the specific 

disposition to broader issues of policy, affordability, and community input. He stated that while the 

Board’s role is to approve or deny property dispositions, it is difficult to do so when larger policy 

matters remain unresolved and when both the Board and City Council must act. Chair Wetzel said his 

duty was to call the question and move the process forward, leaving it to individual Board members to 

express their views through their votes.  

 

Chair Wetzel then called for a motion regarding the proposed disposition. 

 

Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the disposition, and Mr. Jeremiah seconded the motion.   

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board held a roll call vote. Five Board members voted in 

favor of the disposition (Mr. Beauvais, Mr. Jeremiah, Ms. Lopez-Kriss, Chair Wetzel, and Mr. Brown), 

and five opposed (Mr. Goodman, Ms. Gonzalez, Ms. Greenberg, Mr. Dema, and Ms. Rashid).  As a 

majority of the eleven Board members (six votes) is required to approve or reject a proposed disposition 

under the organization’s bylaws (as required by the Pennsylvania Land Bank Act), the motion failed, 

and the disposition was neither approved nor rejected, thus tabling the disposition. 

 

Item V 

Public Comment (Old & New Business) 

 

Chairman Wetzel invited any old and new business to be raised at this time.  

 



PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 7 of 30 

Mr. Ryan Gittler-Muñiz, representing Iglesias Garden, reminded the Board that it has been eight 

months since submitting a revised Purchase and Development Agreement (PDA) and nearly five  years 

since the original garden application was filed in 2020. He said he was following up after being told 

two months earlier that an update was expected by the end of the summer and asked if there were any 

new developments. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah responded that the Purchase and Development Agreement is still being revised but 

explained that progress has been delayed due to limited staff capacity—only two legal staff members 

are currently handling the workload of four to five people. She emphasized that the delay is not due to 

lack of effort and said she hopes to finalize and deliver the agreement within the next few weeks. She 

acknowledged the importance of the project, noting it remains a priority. 

 

Next, Mr. Blatstein recommended that Land Bank Board meetings be recorded and televised to increase 

transparency and public access. He said he plans to petition City Council to amend the bylaws to 

require live recordings. Mr. Blatstein reiterated that the Board’s mission is to return land to productive 

use, not to hold it indefinitely, and expressed concern over the frequency of “no” votes. He called for 

a review of the Land Bank’s disposition policy, criteria for qualified applications, and the roles and 

accountability of Board members to ensure the Board fulfills its mission effectively and in line with its 

intended purpose. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah then introduced an email from Amanda Martinez, owner of 1315 South 20th Street, 

asking the Land Bank to address overgrown trees and debris on the vacant lot at 1317 South 20th Street 

(the email is attached to these minutes as Exhibit C). 

 

Mr. Rodriguez reported that the Land Bank received Ms. Martinez’s email on Thursday and resolved 

all issues by Friday. He noted that PHDC manages maintenance for PRA and Land Bank properties 

and explained that 311 requests may take longer to reach their office, but direct inquiries are typically 

addressed within 24 to 72 hours. 

 

Item VI 

Adjournment 

 

Seeing no further comments from the Board or the public, Chair Wetzel called for a motion to 

adjourn. 

 

Mr. Beauvais moved to adjourn the meeting. Ms. Lopez-Kriss seconded the motion.   

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to adjourn at 11:17 a.m. 

 

  

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD 

  



PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 8 of 30 

 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, September 9, 2025, at 10:00 AM. 

 

User Name 
Stephanie Rhoades 

Zane Knight 

Karen Minor 

Jacqueline Sims 

Mike Blount 

Dewain Clark 

Relina Bonilla 

Conlan Crosley 

Greg Heller 

Wanda Chavarria 

Cassandra Sykes 

Melissa Santiago 

Melania Cerrato 

Edward Hairston 

Joanna Parker 

Nilda L. Pimentel 

Kenneth Hanley 

Isaiah Franco 

Staci Scott 

Ryan Gittler-Muñiz 

Margaret White 

Antonio Cerqueira 

Jeremy Blatstein 

Antony Fullard 

Talia Giles 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 9 of 30 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 10 of 30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 11 of 30 

   



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 12 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 13 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 14 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 15 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 16 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 17 of 30 

 

   



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 18 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 19 of 30 

 

   



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 20 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 21 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 22 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 23 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 24 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 25 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 26 of 30 

 

  



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 27 of 30 

 

   



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 28 of 30 

 

 

  



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 29 of 30 

 

   



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors Approved Meeting Minutes for September 9, 2025  Page 30 of 30 

 

 

 


